Maternal health clinical audit protocol

Version 3.0

Revised 8 September 2014





© Menzies School of Health Research 2011

This material is copyright. Apart from use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), all other rights are reserved. No part of this material may be reproduced, by any process, without prior written permission. Parts of this material are available to registered users for download from the One21seventy web-based information system, www.one21seventy.org.au. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to: Menzies School of Health Research, Darwin Northern Territory, Australia. First published 2009



Contents

Introd	duction		1
	Eligibi	ility of clients	1
	Samp	le size and confidence interval	1
	Recor	nmendations for sample size	1
Section	on 1	General information	2
	1.1	Client ID	2
	1.2	Medicare number	2
	1.3	Date of birth	2
	1.4	Indigenous status	2
	1.5	Auditor's initial and surname	2
	1.6	Audit date	2
	1.7	Birth/delivery summary	3
	1.8	Date of birth of infant	3
	1.9	Gestational age at birth	3
	1.10	Birth weight of infant	3
	1.11	Indigenous status of infant	3
	1.12	Type of birth	3
	1.13	Transfer of antenatal care	4
	1.14	Reason for transfer	4
	1.15	Gestational age at date of transfer	4
	1.16	Location of birth	5
Section	on 2	Attendance for antenatal care and routine supplements	6
	2.1	Date of first antenatal assessment	6
	2.2	Location of record of first antenatal assessment	6
	2.3	Number of antenatal visits	7
	2.4	First antenatal assessment	7
	2.5	Estimated gestational age at first antenatal visit	7
	2.6	Attendance during 1st trimester	8
	2.7	Folate before 20 weeks	8
	2.8	Folate prior to conception	9
	2.9	Iron supplement	9
	2.10	Antenatal care plan/record	9



Section 3	Risk factors and brief intervention	10
3.1	Cigarette use	10
3.2	Alcohol use	11
3.3	Drug use	11
3.4	Location of smoking status	12
3.5	Smoking cessation advice	12
3.6	Brief intervention for alcohol use	12
3.7	Brief intervention for drug use	13
3.8	Social risk factors	13
3.9	Consultation with medical practitioner/appropriate professional	14
3.10	Medical risk factors	14
3.11	Consultation and/or transfer of care to medical practitioner	15
3.12	Brief intervention/Counselling	15
Section 4	Emotional wellbeing screening and care	16
4.1	Screening for emotional wellbeing using EPDS	16
4.2	Score of the most recent screening	16
4.3	Discussion about emotional wellbeing	17
4.4	Actions within 3 month of assessment/recorded concern	17
4.5	Subsequent review within one month of action taken	17
4.6	Report from the external service within six months of referral	18
Section 5	Routine antenatal checks and abnormal findings	19
1st T	rimester	19
5.1	Weight before 13 weeks gestation	19
	Abnormal weight	
5.2	Body Mass Index (BMI) before 13 weeks gestation Abnormal BMI	
5.3	Blood Pressure (BP) before 13 weeks gestation	
5.4	Urinalysis before 13 weeks gestation Abnormal urinalysis	
5.5	Fundal height between 13 and 26 weeks gestation	21
2nd ⁻	Frimester	
5.6	Foetal Heart Rate (FHR) between 13 and 26 weeks gestation Abnormal FHR	21
5.7	Blood Pressure between 13 and 26 weeks Abnormal BP	21
5.8	Urinalysis between 13 and 26 weeks	



		Abnormal urinalysis	22
	3rd Tri	mester	22
	5.9	Fundal height after 26 weeks gestation	
		Abnormal fundal height	22
	5.10	Foetal Heart Rate (FHR) after 26 weeks gestation	
		Abnormal FHR	
	5.11	Blood Pressure after 26 weeks	
	= 10	Abnormal BP	
	5.12	Urinalysis after 26 weeks	
	5.13	Abnormal urinalysis Foetal movements after 26 weeks	
	5.15	Abnormal foetal movement	
Sectio	on 6	Lab investigations	24
	6.1	Blood group	24
	6.2	Antibodies	24
	6.3	Mid stream urine (MSU)	24
	6.4	Full blood examination	25
	6.5	Rubella	25
	6.6	HepBsAg	25
	6.7	Syphylis serology	25
	6.8	Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV)	25
	6.9	PCR test	25
	6.10	Anomaly screening	26
	6.11	Client agreed to foetal anomaly screening	26
	6.12	Nuchal translucency	26
	6.13	First trimester combined screen	27
	6.14	Maternal serum screen	27
	6.15	50g or 75g glucose challenge/tolerance test between 26 and 30	27
	6.16	Full blood examination (FBE) between 26 and 30 weeks	27
	6.17	Low vaginal swab (LVS) between 34 and 37 weeks	28
	6.18	Total number of ultrasounds	28
	6.19	Ultrasound date before 16 weeks gestation	28
	6.20	Ultrasound date between 19 and 21 weeks gestation	28
Sectio	on 7	Postnatal visit	29
	7.1	Postnatal visit	29
	7.2	Brief Intervention/Counselling	29



Section 8	Response to abnormal clinical findings	31
8.1	Abnormal Body Mass Index (BMI)	31
	Follow up	31
8.2	Abnormal BP before 26 weeks	31
	Follow up	
	Urine test	
	Referral	
	Medication	
8.3	Abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks	
	Follow up	
	Urine test	
	Referral	
	Examination	
8.4	Oral glucose challenge test	
0.4	Glucose tolerance test (OGTT)	
8.5	Rh Factor (Maternal Rhesus antibodies)	
	Anti-D injection	33
8.6	Rh Factor -baby	33
	Anti -D injection	33
8.7	Anaemia	34
	Iron 34	
	Follow up	
8.8	Urine Infection (nitrites)	34
	MSU 34 Antibiotics	34
	Follow up MSU	
8.9	Rubella	35
8.10	Foetal movements	
	Kick chart	
	Cardiotocograph (CTG)	
	Referral	35
References		36
Other literati	Jre	
Emotional w	ellbeing screening tools - references	40



Abbreviations

BMI	body mass index
BP	blood pressure
Bpm	beats per minute
EPDS	Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale
FBC	full blood count
FBE	full blood examination
GBS	Group B streptococcus
Hb	haemoglobin
KEMH	King Edward Memorial Hospital
LVS	low vaginal swab
OGTT	oral glucose tolerance test
OGCT	oral glucose challenge test
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
NAAT	nucleic acid amplification test
RBWH	Royal Brisbane and Womens' Hospital
SIDS	sudden infant death syndrome

Version control

Version	Release date	Description
2.0		ABCD research
2.4	19/12/2007	Minor formatting and content changes
3.0	1/6/2010	Major formatting and content changes
3.0	24/4/2013	Protocol update only
2014 release	8/9/2014	Protocol update only

Summary of changes

Section/ Question	Description of change
All sections	Updated references and recommendations for CANHC (2014) CARPA (2014) NACCHO /RACGP (2012)
All sections	'Medical record', 'health record', 'woman's record' and 'client record' are terms used interchangeably to describe the location of information about the pregnancy being audited.
All sections	Changes agreed by working group and users have been considered, however, due to technical limitations and other reasons, they will be incorporated into future revisions of the maternal health tool.

Changes to this tool and protocol are carefully monitored to ensure that trending over CQI cycles is possible. If you notice discrepancies between what is documented in the protocol and what is recommended best practice in your jurisdiction, or have any questions or suggestions, please contact One21seventy by email: one21seventy@menzies.edu.au or phone 1800 082 474. Your feedback is appreciated.



Introduction

This protocol should be used in conjunction with *Improving the quality of primary health care: A training manual for the One21seventy CQI cycle.*

The data collected on each question are validated when entered on the One21seventy website. Invalid entries will prevent progression to the next section.

The pregnancy that is the subject of this audit is referred to as the 'index pregnancy' throughout this protocol. The index pregnancy should be the woman's most recent pregnancy resulting in a live born child that is 2 to 14 months of age at the date of audit. Include only one of each set of twins.

Eligibility of clients

To be eligible for inclusion in the Maternal Health Clinical Audit, a woman must:

- have an infant aged between 2 and 14 months; and
- have been resident in the community for at least 6 months of that infant's gestation; and
- be expected to use this health service as her usual source of primary health care.

A woman who may have had only one or two occasions of service at the service but then gone on to have the rest of her antenatal care at a hospital should be included **if the health service is generally regarded as her first point of contact for primary care**. The important point here is that the primary care service should have a record that the appropriate services were provided. Even if provision of some services has become the responsibility of a hospital or other service, it is important that there is a good record of care at the primary care service once the woman returns there. Remember, we are not trying to collect data to show poor service delivery, we are trying to get an assessment of how well the whole system works to deliver appropriate care to the population of women in their perinatal period.

Sample size and confidence interval

Refer to *Improving the quality of primary health care: a training manual for the One21seventy cycle*, version 2, Section 5, page 50, for more information on determining the sample size with regard to the population size for this audit, and the confidence interval required for the reported indicators.

The 'eligible population' referred to in this protocol is the number of clients who are deemed eligible by the criteria as described above.

Recommendations for sample size

- Health services with large eligible populations may wish to increase the sample size to reduce the confidence intervals around the sample estimates. Health services with smaller eligible populations (40 or fewer) should audit all client records and be cautious when using and comparing reported data.
- For services with up to 100 clients in the eligible population, we recommend a sample size of *at least* 40 client records per audit. This sample will provide an adequate estimate (for quality improvement purposes) of the proportion of clients receiving specific services. Services that require a less precise result may opt to audit 30 records.
- Be aware of the confidence interval for your results this is important when interpreting the data in your reports.



Section 1 General information

1.1 Client ID

A unique 3 digit number for each client audited. At data input this 3 digit number will be automatically prefixed with the tool ID and health centre ID.

For each participating Health Centre, the auditor will prepare a master list of participants that contains participant name, date of birth, and participant number. This list will be marked 'confidential' and stored securely to prevent inappropriate identification of people's records.

1.2 Medicare number

Much of the funding for community controlled health services is via Medicare (general practitioners or allied health). If the Medicare number is not on file or has expired then the claim for the service may be rejected. It is important to have up to date Medicare numbers on file to ensure claims are processed quickly.

Is there a current medicare card number documented in the client record?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

1.3 Date of birth

Record the woman's date of birth as dd/mm/yyyy.

1.4 Indigenous status

Record the woman's Indigenous status as documented in their medical record. Select **one** of the following: **1-Aboriginal**

2-Torres Strait Islander

3-Both (client is both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander)

4-Neither (client is neither Aboriginal nor Torres Strait Islander)

5-Not stated (client has no clear record of their Indigenous status).

1.5 Auditor's initial and surname

Record your initial and surname. You may want to make a stamp if you are a regular auditor (eg. J. Smith).

1.6 Audit date

You may wish to use a date stamp. Record as dd/mm/yyyy.

Note that the audit date will be the same for all records being audited in this year/cycle. Even if all auditing cannot be completed on this date, continue to use the same audit date for all clients and audit the client records retrospectively from this date.



Birth details

Weight and gestational age of baby at birth are useful indicators of antenatal care, and should be documented in the mother's health record, as well as the child's.

1.7 Birth/delivery summary

Is there clear documentation in the woman's medical records of a delivery or birth summary, birth report, or discharge summary from the hospital where the baby was born?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Not complete if a birth summary is present, but not all information is completed.

1.8 Date of birth of infant

Record the infant's date of birth. Record as **dd/mm/yyyy Note:** Infant must be between 2 and 14 months of age at the Audit Date.

1.9 Gestational age at birth

Record the gestational age of the infant at birth as documented in the client record. This information should be available on the birth or delivery record or discharge summary.

Record in weeks

If not available enter '0'.

1.10 Birth weight of infant

Record the infant's birth weight in **grams**. If not available enter **'0**'.

1.11 Indigenous status of infant

Indicate the indigenous status of the infant as stated on the birth summary sheet or discharge letter. **1-Aboriginal**,

2-Torres Strait Islander,

3-Both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

4-Neither Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander

5-Not stated if there is no clear record of the Indigenous status of the infant

1.12 Type of birth

Indicate the type of birth as recorded on the birth summary sheet or discharge letter.

- 1- Vaginal (without instruments)
- 2- Caesarean section (elective or emergency)
- **3- Assisted** (use of instruments)
- 4- Not stated



Transfers

The particular concerns of Indigenous women in remote communities associated with travelling to a larger centre for maternity care, include isolation and dislocation from their communities, inappropriate accommodation for women and their families while in town, lost wages if a partner had to stop working to look after the family, and risk to other children left in the community while mothers were away.(DoHA, 2009)

1.13 Transfer of antenatal care

Answer 'yes' to only one of the questions in Q 1.13, dependant on the reporting needs of your health service. The reason for transfer (Q1.14) and gestational age at date of transfer (Q1.15) will apply to the transfer recorded in Q1.13

This is about care that is transferred in **or** out of the health service, it does not include 'transfers' for shared care (or similar) arrangements.

Is there a record of the woman's antenatal care being transferred to another centre or hospital?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

OR

Is there a record of the woman's antenatal care being transferred **from** another centre or hospital? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

1.14 Reason for transfer

If there is a record of antenatal care being transferred to **or** from another centre or hospital in question 1.13, indicate the main reason for transfer of care as documented in the medical record. Indicate

1-Complications Conditions which are present in this pregnancy, for example, IUGR (intrauterine growth restriction), reduced foetal movements, unexplained bleeding, or premature labour, premature rupture of membranes, abnormal foetal anatomy ultrasound scan, polyhydramnios, multiple pregnancy, abnormal test for diabetes, rhesus antibodies, proteinuria greater than 1+ (KEMH, 2010)

2-Birthing generally due to residence in a remote location without the required birthing facilities or staff

3-High risk pregnancy Conditions that may **cause** complications with this birth, for example, preeclampsia, poorly controlled gestational diabetes, other medical problems or placenta praevia, or may be a combination of factors that increase the need for specialised care;

4-Other may include domestic or social environment or cultural considerations

9-Not applicable if woman was not transferred to another centre or hospital

1.15 Gestational age at date of transfer

If there is a record of antenatal care being transferred to another centre or hospital in question 1.13, record the estimated gestational age of infant in weeks on the date of transfer. If not transferred enter '**0**'.



1.16 Location of birth

Record the location of the birth of the infant, as documented in the client record.

Select

1-Home/Community Health Centre (includes local health service or clinic)

2-Local Hospital (the hospital that is closest to the woman's home, this may also be a regional hospital, eg Katherine, Tennant Creek, Kununurra, Bamaga Hospitals)

3-Regional Hospital (hospital that services a region, eg Royal Darwin Hospital, Derby, Townsville, Bundaberg, Geraldton)

4-City Hospital (hospital that provides specialist and tertiary services, usually located in a major city, eg King Edward Memorial Hospital, Adelaide Women and Childrens', Royal Brisbane and Womens' Hospital)

5-Other if the location of birth does not fit a category described above eg overseas.

6-Not stated if there is no record of the location of birth of infant

Note: The hospitals listed in brackets are examples only. Adapt the categories of hospital to best suit how you use this information for CQI.



Section 2 Attendance for antenatal care and routine supplements

Antenatal attendance

Indigenous mothers who attend antenatal care were less likely to have low birth weight babies (13 per cent) than those who do not attend (39 per cent); low birth weight babies are also associated with their mothers' later commencement of antenatal care and attendance at fewer than five antenatal care sessions. (DoHA, 2009). An early antenatal visit can reduce the risk of health complications for the mother and the baby as substantial health impacts can occur in the first trimester during critical periods of brain development (AIHW, 2014).

The first antenatal visit – which should take place in the first trimester – is particularly important. At this visit a comprehensive history, examination and discussion with the woman establishes the necessary schedule of tests and visits. The majority of screening tests are also carried out. Psychosocial assessment is also important at this stage; screening for issues such as domestic violence, financial stress, mental health disorders and substance use, including alcohol (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012).

The pregnancy that is the subject of this audit is referred to as the 'index pregnancy' throughout this protocol. 'Medical record', 'health record', 'woman's record' and 'client record' are terms used interchangeably to describe the location of information about the pregnancy being audited. Information should be recorded in antenatal care file notes AND the woman's hand–held pregnancy record if she has one (CANHC, 2014).

2.1 Date of first antenatal assessment

Record the date the woman first attended the health service for **antenatal care** for the index pregnancy (ie. when pregnancy was confirmed by the health service, and first recorded in the woman's health record). Record as **dd/mm/yyyy**.

NB: For the purpose of this audit, date of first antenatal assessment is used during data input to validate timing and dates of investigations. For example, date of first antenatal assessment must be equal to or less than initial investigation dates recorded in Section 6.

2.2 Location of record of first antenatal assessment

Some services use both computerised and electronic records. It is useful to know where the particular type of information is recorded. Is the first antenatal assessment documented in paper records?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Is the first antenatal assessment documented in computerised records?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No



Number of antenatal visits

The number of antenatal visits scheduled varies with individual needs and jurisdictional clinical practice guidelines.

A minimum of five antenatal visits should be offered / provided to women with low risk pregnancies with an aim of seven to nine visits in total (RFDS/QH, 2013). NACCHO/ RACGP (2012) suggest planning antenatal visits for an uncomplicated pregnancy every 4 weeks until 28 weeks, then every 2 weeks thereafter.

For a woman's first pregnancy without complications, a schedule of ten visits should be adequate. For subsequent uncomplicated pregnancies, a schedule of seven visits should be adequate (AHMAC, 2012)

2.3 Number of antenatal visits

An antenatal care visit does not include a visit where the sole purpose of contact is to confirm the pregnancy, or contacts with the health service that occurred during the pregnancy, but related to other non-pregnancy issues. Antenatal visits include contacts with the health service where pregnancy care was attended.

Indicate the total number of antenatal visits the woman attended for index pregnancy.

Antenatal care

Important factors in improving antenatal care are continuity of carer, allowing adequate time for communication and to establish trust and rapport, and health provider awareness of local community sociocultural factors and health needs (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012).

2.4 First antenatal assessment

When the woman first attended the health centre for antenatal care during the index pregnancy, which health professional did the client see first?

Indicate:

1-Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Health Worker/Practitioner

2-Nurse,

3-Midwife,

4-General Practitioner,

5-Specialist,

6-Other or

7-Not stated

2.5 Estimated gestational age at first antenatal visit

You may need to use a pregnancy wheel to help calculate estimated gestational age at the first antenatal visit, or use gestational age at birth to estimate by dates.

Indicate the estimated gestational age (in weeks) at the first antenatal assessment for index pregnancy. If unable to calculate, due to lack of information in client record, enter ' $\mathbf{0}$ '.



Antenatal attendance

Fewer Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mothers access five or more antenatal sessions, compared with other mothers in Queensland (72 per cent versus 93 per cent), South Australia (64 per cent versus 88 per cent) and the Northern Territory (77 per cent versus 96 per cent). (DoHA, 2009)

2.6 Attendance during 1st trimester

This question is about attendance for antenatal care. Attendance at any health service for acute problems or other issues should not be counted as antenatal care.

Is there a record that the woman attended the health service for *antenatal care* during the 1st trimester? (**before 13 weeks gestation**)

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

If 0-No, then all questions related to care in the 1st trimester will be 9-N/A

Is there a record that the woman attended the health service for *antenatal care* during the 2nd trimester? (between 13 and 26 weeks gestation)

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

If 0-No, then all questions related to care in the 2nd trimester will be 9-N/A

Is there a record that the woman attended the health service for *antenatal care* during the 3rd trimester, (after 26 weeks gestation)

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

If 0-No, then all questions related to care in the 3rd trimester will be 9-N/A

Folic Acid Supplements

Daily supplementation with folic acid (400–500 mcg) is recommended for all pregnant women, prior to conception and for the first 12 weeks of pregnancy. Specific attention needs to be given to promoting folic acid supplementation to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women of childbearing age and providing information to individual women at the first antenatal visit (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012).

2.7 Folate before 20 weeks

It is acknowledged that *folate* and *folic acid* are sometimes used interchangeably. It is also acknowledged that neither require a prescription for use, but may be suggested or recommended by a clinician. For the purpose of this audit, 'folate' includes any supplement of *folate* or *folic acid* by diet or tablet or any other means. For the purpose of this audit, 'prescription' includes a documented recommendation or suggestion by a health practitioner that the woman have an appropriate folate supplement.

Is there documentation that the woman was prescribed folate before 20 weeks gestation? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**



2.8 Folate prior to conception

It is acknowledged that *folate* and *folic acid* are sometimes used interchangeably. It is also acknowledged that neither require a prescription for use, but may be suggested or recommended by a clinician. For the purpose of this audit, 'folate' includes any supplement of 'folate' or 'folic acid' by diet or tablet or any other means. For the purpose of this audit, 'prescription' includes a documented recommendation or suggestion by a health practitioner that the woman have an appropriate folate supplement.

Is there documentation that the woman was prescribed folate before conception?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Iron Supplements

Pregnancy increases the body's demand for iron due to the expanded red cell volume, the demands of the developing foetus and placenta and blood loss around the time of delivery. Iron deficiency is the most common cause of anaemia in pregnancy in Central Australia and the Top End of the Northern Territory.

Iron supplementation should be considered in pregnant women who are anaemic, particularly if they are symptomatic or have other health concerns (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012).

2.9 Iron supplement

It is acknowledged that a prescription is not necessary for iron supplements. For the purpose of this audit, 'prescription' includes a documented recommendation or suggestion by a health practitioner that the woman take an iron supplement. Is there documentation that the woman was prescribed iron any time immediately prior to, or during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No.

Care plans

As for all pregnant women, the antenatal care offered to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women should be woman-centred. This means that the care focuses on the individual woman's needs and preferences and that the woman is informed and involved in decision making (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012)

2.10 Antenatal care plan/record

For the purpose of this audit, an 'antenatal care plan/record' is defined as a schedule or plan of care across the duration of the index pregnancy and post-partum period. The form this schedule takes will vary between health services, and it is important that the auditor understands and documents the standard approach used for this health service and audit against this standard.

Is there an antenatal care plan/record for index pregnancy in the client record?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No



Section 3 Risk factors and brief intervention

Risk factors and brief interventions

Health risk factors such as maternal smoking, alcohol and other drugs consumption by both parents, inadequate nutrition, stress, illness and infection can all disrupt the development of the child before birth and are associated (along with young maternal age) with low birth weight, which connects with long-term effects on learning and behaviour, and the development of chronic disease later in life. In particular, drinking alcohol while pregnant may result in a range of impairments and cognitive social and emotional dysfunction over the child's lifetime, otherwise known as foetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) (DoHA, 2013)

Brief interventions that address smoking, nutrition, alcohol intake and physical activity are recommended for all pregnant women as part of routine care. Client education is an important aspect of management of a healthy pregnancy. Type of education should be culturally appropriate and easily accessible for indigenous women (Couzos and Murray, 2008 p.207, 225-230).

3.1 Cigarette use

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are three times more likely to smoke during pregnancy than non-Indigenous Australian women, with current smoking prevalence estimated at around 50–60%. Higher risk groups include teenagers and women who experience socioeconomic hardship. Maternal smoking contributes to a greater proportion of the risk of prematurity and low birth weight for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander babies when compared with non-Indigenous babies (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012)

As part of antenatal care, NACCHO/RACGP (2012) recommends to *regularly assess smoking status* at the first and subsequent antenatal visits. For the purposes of this audit, 'cigarette use' refers to the smoking of tobacco only, and not to smoking any other substance, unless it is mixed with tobacco.

What is the woman's tobacco use, as documented in each trimester?

For each trimester, indicate

1-Daily smoker if there is documentation of the woman smoking tobacco every day
2-Weekly smoker if there is documentation of the client smoking tobacco on a weekly basis
3-Irregular smoker if there is documentation that the client does not either smoke or chew tobacco
4-Ex-smoker if there is documentation that the woman quit smoking during pregnancy
5-Ex-smoker if there is documentation that he woman quit smoking before the index pregnancy
6-Non-smoker if there is documentation that the woman is not smoking at all
7-No record if there is no documentation of attendance in that trimester



Alcohol use

Alcohol consumption in pregnancy is associated with increased risk of severe birth defects such as brain damage, facial deformities and growth problems, and more subtle changes such as learning and behavioural problems. This range of problems is known as fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). The risk to the baby is highest in the first trimester, including the first weeks following conception when the mother may not realise she is pregnant (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012).

A 'no-effect' level has not been established for the developing foetus, so limitations in the available evidence make it impossible to set a 'safe' or 'no-risk' drinking level for women to avoid harm to their unborn children, although the risks to the foetus from low-level drinking (such as one or two drinks per week) during pregnancy are likely to be low. A conservative, public health approach has therefore been taken in recommending that 'not drinking alcohol is the safest option' for pregnant women and women planning a pregnancy. (NHMRC, 2009)

3.2 Alcohol use

For the purpose of this audit, a 'drink' is equal to one standard drink.

What is the woman's alcohol use, as documented in **each trimester** of the index pregnancy? For each trimester, indicate

1-More than 7 drinks per week or more than 2 drinks per day

2-Less than 7 drinks per week and less than 2 drinks per day

3-Any alcohol consumption if there is documentation of alcohol consumption, but not the amount

4-No alcohol consumption if there is documentation of no alcohol consumption

5-No record if there is no documentation about alcohol consumption

9-Not applicable if there is no documentation of attendance in that trimester

3.3 Drug use

For the purposes of this audit, 'drug use' refers to any legal, illegal, prescription or non prescription drug or substance used inappropriately and may include one or more of the following: marijuana(cannabis); pharmaceutical drugs such as pain killers, analgesics, tranquilisers or sleeping pills; inhalants; steroids; barbiturates; amphetamines or methamphetamines (speed); heroin; methadone; other opiates (opioids); cocaine; LSD or other synthetic hallucinogens; natural hallucinogens; ecstasy; ketamine; GHB; any injected drugs. This also includes drugs mixed with tobacco and smoked or chewed.

What is the client's current documented drug use in each trimester of the index pregnancy?

For each trimester, indicate

1-Daily user if there is documentation of the woman using drugs every day

2-Weekly user if there is documentation of the client using drugs on a weekly basis

3-Irregular user if there is documentation that the client uses drugs occasionally

4- Ex –user (quit during pregnancy) if there is documentation that the client stopped using drugs in this trimester

5-Ex-user (quit before pregnancy) if there is documentation that the client stopped using drugs any time before the index pregnancy

6-Non-user if there is documentation that the client does not use drugs

7-No record if there is no documentation about drug use

9-Not applicable if there is no documentation of attendance in that trimester



3.4 Location of smoking status

Many health services have a combination of paper and electronic records for client information. Knowing where to find information about clients is important for management of care (RACGP, 2010).

Is the location of smoking status documented on a paper record?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Is the location of smoking status documented in an electronic or computer record?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Smoking cessation advice

As part of routine antenatal care, NACCHO/RACGP(2012) recommend to offer interventions to assist smoking cessation ranging from brief advice to more intensive, multicomponent interventions. The 2011 National Heart Foundation national tobacco campaign recommends referring clients to their Quitline. AHMAC,(2012) suggest health professionals involved in the care of Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander women should be aware of the high prevalence of smoking in some communities and should draw on the expertise of anti-tobacco workers where available.

3.5 Smoking cessation advice

As part of routine antenatal care, NACCHO/RACGP(2012) recommend to offer interventions to assist smoking cessation ranging from brief advice to more intensive, multicomponent interventions. Evidence of this may be in an antenatal tobacco screening tool, which incorporates brief intervention and follow up. For the purpose of this audit, the record of brief interventions for smoking cessation should at least indicate either that a brief intervention has been delivered, or that the client has been asked about their use of tobacco, and their intentions or interest in quitting. The 2011 National Heart Foundation national tobacco campaign recommends referring clients to their Quitline.

If smoker is documented in question 3.1, is there documentation that the client has received a brief intervention for tobacco use during the index pregnancy on a paper record?

Indicate 1-Yes, 0-No or

9-N/A if the client does not smoke or smoking status is not recorded in question 3.1

If smoker is documented in question 3.1, is there documentation that the client has received a brief intervention for tobacco use during the index pregnancy in a computer record?

Indicate 1-Yes, 0-No or

9-N/A if the client does not smoke or smoking status is not recorded in question 3.1

3.6 Brief intervention for alcohol use

As part of routine antenatal care, NACCHO/RACGP (2012) and AHMAC (2012) recommend to *advise that not drinking alcohol is the safest option in pregnancy, particularly in the first 3 months*. Evidence of this may be obtained from an antenatal screening tool that incorporates a record of brief intervention and follow up. For the purpose of the audit, the record of brief interventions for reducing alcohol-related harm should at least indicate either that a brief intervention has been delivered; or that the client has been asked about their use of alcohol, and their intentions or interest in reducing their alcohol consumption.

If alcohol use is recorded, is there documentation that the client has received a brief intervention for alcohol use during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes, 0-No or

9-N/A if alcohol use is not documented



3.7 Brief intervention for drug use

For the purpose of the audit, the record of brief interventions for reducing drug use should at least indicate either that a brief intervention has been delivered, or that the client has been asked about their use of drugs and their intentions or interest in reducing their drug intake.

If current drug use is documented, is there documentation that the client has received a brief intervention for drug use during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes, 0-No or

9-N/A if drug use is not documented

3.8 Social risk factors

Safe start (2009) program identify the following psychosocial risk factors.

- Lack of social/ family support, including practical support and someone to talk to about feelings
- Recent major stressors in the last 12 months
- Low self esteem/ lack of self confidence
- History of anxiety, depression or other mental health problems
- Couple's relationship problems or dysfunction
- Adverse childhood experiences
- Domestic violence
- Financial situation (and availability of support services)

Risk factors should be assessed at every antenatal visit. For the purpose of this audit, this question is about risk factors assessed at least once during index pregnancy.

Is there documentation of social risk factors anytime during index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-No record if there is no documentation of social risk factors being assessed or discussed

Social Risk factors for discussion	Examples of possible discussion
Plans for care and birthing	Specific and mainstream pregnancy care service options appropriate to the woman's community/home
Antenatal education	Preparation for birthing and parenthood
Nutrition	Diet and nutrition for the woman during pregnancy
Oral health	Prevention of periodontal disease
Breast feeding	Benefits and appropriate preparation for and practice of breast feeding
Physical activity	Benefits of regular exercise during pregnancy
Cultural considerations	Social and Cultural aspects of pregnancy and care (eg involve appropriate women's business, Strong Women, Strong Babies, Strong Culture, Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander health workers/practitioners)
Domestic/social environment	Domestic violence and strategies for management of a safe environment
Social/family support	Availability of support services, and how to access them
Financial situation	Has this been a problem in last 12 months?
	Availability of support services, and how to access them
Housing condition	Has this been a problem in the last 12 months?
	Availability of support services, and how to access them
Food security	Has this been a problem in the last 12 months?
	Availability, affordability and accessibility of food appropriate for woman and family



3.9 Consultation with medical practitioner/appropriate professional

It is acknowledged that a medical practitioner may not be the best option for support in all cases. They may recommend further support from services such as another doctor, specialist, psychologist, womens' help group, centrelink official, housing department staff member, or local council official.

If there are documented social risk factors, at any time during the index pregnancy, was the woman referred or transferred to a medical practitioner or other appropriate professional or service?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no record of social risk factors being assessed or discussed in question 3.8

3.10 Medical risk factors

The table below shows examples of medical risk factors. They may be recorded on a screening/risk assessment form, or in the progress notes. They may identify a risk to the woman or the baby, or both. Medical risk factors should be assessed at each antenatal visit. For the purpose of this audit, this question is about risk factors assessed at least once during index pregnancy.

During the index pregnancy, is there is a record of assessment of medical risk factors?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-No record if there is no record of medical risk factors being assessed or discussed

Medical risk factors: Medical conditions	
Anaesthetic difficulties	Herpes Genitalis
Asthma	Hypertension
Autoimmune disease	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
Cardiovascular disease	Infectious diseases
Chronic bronchitis/Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	Intra uterine growth retardation (IUGR)
(COPD)	Other endocrine disorder
Drug dependence or abuse	Other neurological
Diabetes mellitus	Psychiatric disorders
Deep vein thrombosis	Renal function disorders
Epilepsy	Syphilis
Genetic –any condition	System/connective tissue diseases
Heart disease	Thyroid Disease
Hepatitis	Tuberculosis
Medical risk factors: Pre-existing gynaecological disorders	
Cervical cone biopsy	Pelvic floor reconstruction
Myomectomy/ hysterotomy	
Medical risk factors: Previous obstetric Hx	
Active blood group incompatibility	Perinatal death Pre-eclampsia in the previous pregnancy
Asphyxia (Apgar score <7 at 5 min)	Pre-term birth(<37 weeks)
Caesarean section	Prior child with congenital/hereditary disorder
Cervical incompetence	Post-partum haemorrhage >1000ml
Eclampsia	Post-partum psychosis
Fetal growth restriction	Recurrent miscarriage(3 or more times)
Grand multiparity >5	Underweight (BMI<18.5) or obese (BMI>30)
Hypertension in the previous pregnancy	



3.11 Consultation and/or transfer of care to medical practitioner

A medical practitioner may be a GP or specialist obstetrician. If there are documented medical risk factors during the index pregnancy, is there documentation of consultation and/or transfer of care to a medical practitioner for possible medical risk factors?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no record of medical risk factors being assessed or discussed in question 3.10

3.12 Brief intervention/Counselling

A record of social risk factors may be on a formal screening tool or in the progress notes. Planning the type of perinatal care must take into account the available resources, and recognise the individual health and social care needs of the woman throughout perinatal period (RANZCOG, 2011).

Each of the issues listed should be discussed during at least one antenatal visit for each pregnancy.

Indicate if there is a record of discussion at any time during the index pregnancy about each of the issues listed.

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No



Section 4 Emotional wellbeing screening and care

Emotional wellbeing

While estimates vary, research suggests that depression, anxiety or both are experienced by at least one in ten women during pregnancy and one in six women in the year following birth (beyondblue, 2011).

Common mental health problems during the antenatal and postnatal period include depression and anxiety disorders, such as panic disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder and post traumatic stress disorder. For the vast majority of these women, professional help will be provided solely by primary health care services in community settings (National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 2007 cited in NSWHealth 2009)

The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) is the recommended screening tool for antenatal and postnatal women (beyondblue, 2011, QH/RFDS, 2013, NSW Health, 2011). CANHC (2014) recommend the EPDS be completed at least twice during pregnancy.

4.1 Screening for emotional wellbeing using EPDS

The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) is the recommended screening tool for antenatal and postnatal women (beyondblue, 2011). It is also recommended by the SAFE START guidelines (2009), and Queensland Health's Primary Clinical Care Manual (2013). Other screening tools for emotional wellbeing (Appendix 1) include:

- Kessler 5(K5)
- Kessler 6 (K6)
- Kessler 10 (K10)
- Patient Health Questionnaire 2(PHQ2)
- Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ9)
- another tool routinely used in your health service or jurisdiction, eg safestart .

Is there a record of the woman being screened for emotional wellbeing using a standard tool anytime during index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

4.2 Score of the most recent screening

If an emotional wellbeing screening tool was used, record the **score** of the **most recent** screening (during the index pregnancy) in the column next to the appropriate tool.

NB: due to technical limitations, a score of 0 cannot be entered, please enter '1' instead. This does not affect the reporting. If the tool was not used, enter '-1' (minus one).



Screening tool	Not Used	Score range	At risk score
K5	-1	5–25	≥12
K6	-1	6–30	≥12
K10	-1	10–50	≥22
PHQ2+	-1	1–3	Yes to either 1 or 2 PLUS Yes to 3
PHQ9	-1	1–27	>5
EPDS	-1	1–30	>10
Other tool	-1		

At the **most recent** screening, (using a standard tool) is the client classified 'at risk'?

Indicate 1-Yes, or 0-No

9-N/A if the client was not screened for emotional wellbeing during the index pregnancy

If a screening tool not listed has been used, also record the name of the other tool.

4.3 Discussion about emotional wellbeing

This can be a record of formal or informal discussion about emotional wellbeing written in the woman's medical record as opposed to a formal screening tool used in Question 4.1.

Is there documentation of any other concern about emotional wellbeing during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

4.4 Actions within 3 month of assessment/recorded concern

If the woman was assessed as being at risk in question 4.2 or there is recorded concern about emotional wellbeing in question 4.3, indicate if the client has received any of the following actions by the health centre team within 3 months of being screened at risk:

- referral to external services (any service not provided by the primary health care centre)
- brief intervention includes problem solving or goal setting or information sharing
- counselling includes the above and/or motivational interviewing and/or a range of other therapeutic approaches
- cognitive behavioural therapy includes exploration of thoughts and feelings linked with behaviours
- medication includes antidepressants and/or antipsychotics or other
- other action please provide a description of this action (e.g. link with other service, such as housing or employment).

Is there documentation of actions taken by the health service within 3 months of risk or concern being identified?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No for each of the actions listed.

9-N/A if the client was not screened for emotional wellbeing during the index pregnancy

4.5 Subsequent review within one month of action taken

If an action was taken by the health service team in question 4.4, is there documentation of a subsequent review within a month of the action taken?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No.

8-N/R if there is no documentation and the time since the action is less than one month.

9-N/A if no action was taken in question 4.4 or if the client was not screened for emotional wellbeing during the index pregnancy



4.6 Report from the external service within six months of referral

If a referral to an external service is documented in question 4.4, is a report from the external service (within six months of the referral) available in the client record?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No.

8-N/R if there is no report available and time since the referral is less than six months

9-N/A if client was not referred to an external service in 4.4, or the client was not screened for emotional wellbeing during the index pregnancy



Section 5 Routine antenatal checks and abnormal findings

Routine Care

Effective models of antenatal care have a focus on the individual woman's needs and preferences, collaboration and continuity of care. Taking a woman-centred approach also ensures that a woman's social, emotional, physical, psychological, spiritual and cultural needs and expectations are considered and respected. Throughout the pregnancy, women need to be given information in an appropriate form to support them in making choices about their care (AHMAC, 2012).

Guidelines for routine antenatal care are available for each jurisdiction. In order to keep audits manageable, questions are not asked about every recommended routine assessment, however, the data collected provides sufficient detail to be informative for continuous quality improvement and health service planning

Weight

Measure blood pressure, height and weight and calculate BMI at first antenatal visit, and opportunistically. Repeated weighing during pregnancy should be confined to circumstances where clinical management is likely to be influenced (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012, AHMAC, 2012)

BP

Blood pressure should be measured at each antenatal visit (RFDS/QH, 2013 CANHC, 2014). Abnormal BP requiring follow up is defined as ≥140/90mmHg (RFDS/QH 2013, CANHC, 2014)

1st Trimester

5.1 Weight before 13 weeks gestation

Indicate if there is clear documentation in the **paper** client record of the woman's weight before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy.

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined to be weighed.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Indicate if there is clear documentation in the electronic or **computer** client record of the woman's weight before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy.

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined to be weighed.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Abnormal weight

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal weight is described by no or minimal weight gain in the first trimester of the index pregnancy.

Is the weight documented before 13 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of weight in the 1st trimester



5.2 Body Mass Index (BMI) before 13 weeks gestation

Record if there is clear documentation of the woman's BMI before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined to be weighed.9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Abnormal BMI

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal BMI is described by BMI less than 20 or greater than 30. Is the BMI documented before 13 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester If abnormal, see guestion 8.1 for further investigation

5.3 Blood Pressure (BP) before 13 weeks gestation

Is there is clear documentation in the **paper** client record of the woman's BP before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Is there is clear documentation in the electronic or **computer** client record of the woman's BP before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Abnormal BP

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal BP is described by repeated readings over several hours, systolic reading greater than or equal to 140, **and/or** diastolic reading greater than or equal to 90 (≥140/90mmgHg). Is the BP documented before 13 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of BP in the 1st trimester

If abnormal, see question 8.2 for further investigation

5.4 Urinalysis before 13 weeks gestation

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's urinalysis before 13 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined a urinalysis.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester

Abnormal urinalysis

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal urinalysis is described by positive for nitrites. Is the urinalysis documented before 13 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 1st trimester If abnormal see question 8.8 for further investigation



5.5 Fundal height between 13 and 26 weeks gestation

Is there is clear documentation of a measurement of fundal height between 13 and 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the measurement. **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

Abnormal fundal height

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal fundal height is described by no increase in measurement (CANHC, 2008).

Is the fundal height measurement documented between 13 and 26 weeks gestation abnormal? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

2nd Trimester

5.6 Foetal Heart Rate (FHR) between 13 and 26 weeks gestation

Is there is clear documentation of a measurement of foetal heart rate between 13 and 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the assessment.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

Abnormal FHR

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal FHR is described as less than 110 beats per minute or greater than 160 beats per minute (CANHC, 2014). Foetal heart rate not auscultated is also abnormal.

Is the FHR documented between 13 and 26 weeks abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of FHR in question 5.6 or there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

5.7 Blood Pressure between 13 and 26 weeks

Is there is clear documentation in the client record of the woman's BP between 13 and 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2- Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the assessment9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

Abnormal BP

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal BP is described by repeated readings over several hours, with systolic reading greater than or equal to 140, **and/or** diastolic reading greater than or equal to 90 (≥140/90mmgHg).

Is the BP documented between 13 and 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of BP in the 2nd trimester or there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

If abnormal, see question 8.2 for further investigation



5.8 Urinalysis between 13 and 26 weeks

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's urinalysis between 13 and 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined a urinalysis.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester

Abnormal urinalysis

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal urinalysis is described by positive for nitrites. Is the urinalysis documented between 13 and 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 2nd trimester If abnormal, see question 8.8 for further investigation

3rd Trimester

5.9 Fundal height after 26 weeks gestation

Is there is clear documentation of a measurement of fundal height after 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the measurement.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

Abnormal fundal height

Fundal height is measured in centimetres, and should be comparable with the expected measurement according to the woman's dates (CANHC, 2014).

Is the fundal height measurement documented after 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of fundal height in the 3rd trimester

5.10 Foetal Heart Rate (FHR) after 26 weeks gestation

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal FHR is described as less than 110 beats per minute or greater than 160 beats per minute (CANHC, 2014). Foetal heart rate not auscultated is also abnormal.

Is there is clear documentation of a measurement of foetal heart rate after 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the assessment.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

Abnormal FHR

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal FHR is described as less than 110 beats per minute or greater than 160 beats per minute (CANHC, 2014). Foetal heart rate not auscultated is also abnormal.

Is the FHR documented after 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of FHR in question 5.10 or there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester



5.11 Blood Pressure after 26 weeks

Is there is clear documentation in the client record of the woman's BP after 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2- Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined the assessment

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

Abnormal BP

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal BP is described by systolic reading greater than or equal to 140, and/or diastolic reading greater than or equal to 90 (\geq 140/90mmgHg).

Is the BP documented after 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of BP in the 3rd trimester or there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

If abnormal, see question 8.3 for further investigation

5.12 Urinalysis after 26 weeks

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's urinalysis after 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined a urinalysis.

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

Abnormal urinalysis

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal urinalysis is described by positive for nitrites. Is the urinalysis documented after 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

If abnormal, see question 8.8 for further investigation

5.13 Foetal movements after 26 weeks

Is there is clear documentation of foetal movement assessment after 26 weeks gestation of the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

Abnormal foetal movement

For the purpose of this audit, abnormal foetal movements is described as the woman's perception of a change in number of movements ie. reduced or decreased movements. Is the foetal movement assessment documented after 26 weeks gestation abnormal?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if there is no documentation of attendance in the 3rd trimester

If abnormal, see question 8.10 for further investigation



Section 6 Lab investigations

Initial investigations for index pregnancy

These investigations are routine tests for the first antenatal visit (RFDS/QH 2013 CANHC, 2014). For the purposes of this audit, a record that the investigations were completed anytime during the index pregnancy suggests a 'yes' answer. Evidence of these tests is most likely in the 'pathology' section of the client record.

Further investigation

Prior to offering any screening, women should be given accurate and balanced information about the screening and the available tests. These lab investigations are completed primarily to reduce maternal and foetal mortality and morbidity rates, which are 3 to 5 times higher for Indigenous women than the rest of the population. Providing such information should be seen as fundamental to quality antenatal care. (Couzos and Murray, 2008 p.197-199).

Diabetes in pregnancy

It is important to screen for diabetes as treatment can reduce the risks for both the mother and the foetus. Good glycaemic control is achieved through the use of medications as well as diet and physical activity. The use of medications is recommended if glycaemic control cannot be achieved through dietary control and increased physical exercise (Couzos and Murray, 2008, p541).

6.1 Blood group

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's blood group (A,B,O, and D) during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.2 Antibodies

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's antibody status during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.3 Mid stream urine (MSU)

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's mid stream urine during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy



6.4 Full blood examination

Is there is clear documentation of a full blood examination, (FBE) or full blood count (FBC) during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.5 Rubella

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's rubella antibody status (IGG) during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.6 HepBsAg

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's Hepatitis B antibody status (HepBsAg) during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.7 Syphylis serology

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's syphilis serology (RPR and EIA/TPPA) during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.8 Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV)

Is there is clear documentation of the woman's HIV status during the index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test. Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.9 PCR test

A Nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT) is performed on urine or a swab to check for Gonorrhoea, Chlamydia and Trichomonas. This test used to be called a PCR (polymerase chain reaction). Is there is clear documentation that the woman has been tested for Gonorrhoea, Chlamydia and Trichomonas during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this blood test

9-N/A if this is not scheduled in your jurisdiction

Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy



6.10 Anomaly screening

With each pregnancy, there is a small chance the baby may be abnormal. Various screening and diagnostic tests are available. However, not all tests are available locally, and planning may be necessary for women who do want the tests. All women should be offered anomaly screening for their unborn baby. This question is about whether the screening tests were discussed and offered, not about whether the tests were done.

Is there is clear documentation that anomaly screening was offered during the index pregnancy?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test.

Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

Note: date of tests should be on or after the date of first antenatal visit recorded in 2.1

Foetal anomaly screening

Foetal anomaly screening refers to tests performed to detect foetal chromosomal abnormality.

NACCHO/RACGP (2012) recommend that early in pregnancy all women should receive appropriate information concerning available foetal anomaly screening including potential risks and benefits. AHMAC (2012), acknowledge that this information should be provided in a way that is appropriate and accessible to the individual woman, with particular regard given to language and literacy. They also acknowledge that there is inadequate access to screening for chromosomal abnormalities in many rural and remote areas. Every effort should be made to support women in these areas to access screening.

6.11 Client agreed to foetal anomaly screening

If foetal anomaly screening was offered, is there clear documentation of the woman agreeing to anomaly screening?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Test not available if there is clear documentation that the test is not available

6.12 Nuchal translucency

Nuchal translucency is one of the measurements done on the foetus using an ultrasound. If foetal anomaly screening was offered is there clear documentation of nuchal translucency screening?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Test not available if there is clear documentation that the test is not available in the area

9-N/A if there is clear documentation that the woman was not offered foetal anomaly screening in question 6.10 or did not consent to anomaly screening in question 6.11.

Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy



6.13 First trimester combined screen

Combined First Trimester Screening involves the pregnant women having a blood test around the 10th week and an ultrasound during the 12th week of pregnancy. This test screens for Down syndrome and Trisomy 18. If foetal anomaly screening was offered, is there clear documentation of first trimester combined screen?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Test not available if there is clear documentation that the test is not available in the area

9-N/A if there is clear documentation that the woman was not offered foetal anomaly screening in question 6.10 or did not consent to anomaly screening in question 6.11, or there is no documentation of attendance in the first trimester

Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.14 Maternal serum screen

Maternal Serum Screening is a blood test offered to pregnant women at about 14-20 weeks gestation, to find out if they might be at a higher risk of having a baby with Down syndrome, neural tube defects (such as spina bifida) or Trisomy 18. This test does not diagnose these conditions. If foetal anomaly screening was offered, is there clear documentation of maternal serum screen?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-Test not available if there is clear documentation that the test is not available in the area

9-N/A if there is clear documentation that the woman was not offered foetal anomaly screening in question 6.10 or did not consent to anomaly screening in question 6.11, or there is no documentation of attendance between 14 and 20 weeks.

Record the date of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.15 50g or 75g glucose challenge/tolerance test between 26 and 30 weeks

This question is about diabetes screening in pregnancy. CANHC (2014), NACCHO/RACGP (2012) and ADIP (2013), recommend that between 24 and 28 weeks gestation, a 75g 2 hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) is performed for the diagnosis of gestational diabetes. If a 75g 2 hour OGTT is consistently difficult to achieve, alternative tests such as random blood glucose, or a 50g 1 hour glucose challenge (OGCT) can be used to screen for diabetes. For the purpose of this audit, diabetes screening is identified by documentation of 50 or 75g glucose challenge/tolerance tests. Is there clear documentation of 50 or 75g glucose challenge/tolerance tests?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

2-offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test

Select **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance between 26 and 30 weeks or if the woman has preexisting diabetes mellitus in question 3.10

If yes, record the **date** of test as dd/mm/yyyy.

6.16 Full blood examination (FBE) between 26 and 30 weeks

Is there clear documentation of an FBE or full blood count (FBC) between 26 and 30 weeks? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test

Select **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance between 26 and 30 weeks

If yes, record the **date** of test as dd/mm/yyyy.



6.17 Low vaginal swab (LVS) between 34 and 37 weeks

Is there is clear documentation of an LVS for Group B streptococcus (GBS) between 34 and 37 weeks? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test Select **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance between 34 and 37 weeks If yes, record the **date** of test as dd/mm/yyyy.

Ultrasound

A routine ultrasound may be done for women at or around 13 weeks (before 14 weeks) to ensure a foetal heart is present and that the placenta is in the right place (CANHC, 2014).

An ultrasound to screen for foetal anomalies (foetal morphology scan) occurs between 18-21 weeks gestation. This is a generally agreed cut off gestation for termination of pregnancy if foetal anomaly is found and this is the woman's choice (states and territories each have different legislation). Ultrasound screening is recommended by QH/RFDS (2013), CANHC (2014) and NACCHO/RACGP (2012) at between 18 and 20 weeks gestation.

6.18 Total number of ultrasounds

How many ultrasounds are documented for index pregnancy? Record in whole numbers.

6.19 Ultrasound date before 16 weeks gestation

Is there clear documentation of an ultrasound **before 16 weeks** gestation? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No 2-offered and refused** if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test

Select **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance before 16 weeks If yes, record the **date** of test as dd/mm/yyyy

6.20 Ultrasound date between 19 and 21 weeks gestation

Is there clear documentation of an ultrasound **between 19 and 21 weeks** gestation? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

2-offered and refused if there is clear documentation that the woman declined this test Select **9-N/A** if there is no documentation of attendance between 19 and 21 weeks If yes, record the **date** of test as dd/mm/yyyy





Section 7 Postnatal visit

Post natal care

Every mother must receive continuing assessment and support throughout the postnatal period to give her the best possible start with her new baby and for the change in her life and responsibilities. Postnatal care should include provision of information to parents on infant care, parenting skills and accessing local community support groups (RANZCOG, 2011).

CANHC (2014) and other jurisdictional guidelines have an extensive list of items to check to be completed at the 6 week postnatal check, including many items that are not audited here, for example: general health, urinary and bowel symptoms and/or continence, STI, pap smear, breast health, vaginal loss, family allowance, medicare registration, test results and other follow up. Items audited serve as indicators of a comprehensive postnatal visit.

7.1 Postnatal visit

QH/RFDS (2013) recommend that a postnatal check up is performed by an experienced practitioner at 6 weeks post partum. Is there clear documentation of postnatal visit within 2 months of the infant's birth? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**.

7.2 Brief Intervention/Counselling

This information may be recorded in various ways in the clinical notes, with possibly simply a note to say the issue was 'discussed'. For the purpose of CQI, this audit is not a comprehensive checklist of all the examinations, tests and issues that should be considered, it is an indication of the extent of postnatal care. Is there documentation that each of the issues listed in the audit form has been discussed during a postnatal visit?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No for each issue listed

9-N/A if there is no documented postnatal visit within 2 months of infant's birth.



Issue	Discussion
Smoking	Increased risk of SIDS in newborns in a smoking environment. Harmful effects of smoking to the mother.
Nutrition	Diet and nutrition for the woman and her infant
Breast feeding	Benefits and appropriate practice of breast feeding. Breast and nipple checks.
Infection prevention/ hygiene	Washing hands, washing infant, nappy hygiene
Injury prevention	Importance of keeping a safe environment for the new mother and baby
SIDS prevention	Importance of keeping a safe environment for the newborn, especially when sleeping
Abuse of alcohol and other substances	Harmful effects of continued alcohol and substance use
Physical activity	Benefits of regular exercise post partum
Mood (including depression)	EPDS should be completed. The importance of emotional wellbeing of mother and baby discussed. Changes following birth/risk factors, signs and symptoms of postpartum depression or anxiety.
Contraception	Discuss all options, side effects/appropriate methods for women
Domestic/social environment	Domestic violence, substance abuse/misuse in the home, alternative arrangement, safety of the baby and mother in this situation.
Social/family support	Availability and use of support services if necessary
Financial situation	Availability and use of support services if necessary
Housing condition	Availability and use of support services if necessary
Food security	Availability, affordability and accessibility of food necessary for healthy diet and nutrition of mother and baby.



Section 8 Response to abnormal clinical findings

"Aboriginal women are likely to experience adverse pregnancy outcomes more frequently than other Australian women". (Couzos and Murray, 2008, p.195). Screening in the antenatal period can be effective to improve outcomes, as long as abnormal results are followed up with appropriate investigations, treatment and care. Measuring blood pressure at every antenatal visit is a long standing, widespread, and generally accepted recommendation (Couzos and Murray, 2008)

8.1 Abnormal Body Mass Index (BMI)

Abnormal BMI is defined as < 20 or > 30. Is there is an abnormal BMI reading during index pregnancy? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

Follow up

If BMI is documented as abnormal, is there a documented plan of management?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if BMI is not recorded in question 5.2, or BMI is not abnormal.

If BMI is documented as abnormal, indicate the BMI reading and date of reading

8.2 Abnormal BP before 26 weeks

Abnormal BP is defined as ≥140/90 confirmed by repeated readings over several hours. Is there documentation of an abnormal BP reading before 26 weeks gestation?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if the woman did not attend before 26 weeks gestation or if BP is not recorded in question 5.3 and 5.7

If BP is documented as abnormal, indicate the BP reading and date of reading

Follow up

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there a documented follow up BP reading completed on a different day to the abnormal result?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP before 26 weeks

Urine test

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of a urine test to check for protein?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP before 26 weeks

Referral

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of referral to a general practitioner or obstetrician?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP before 26 weeks



Examination

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of an examination by general practitioner or obstetrician?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP before 26 weeks

Medication

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of prescribed antihypertensive medication? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP before 26 weeks

8.3 Abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks

Abnormal BP is defined as ≥140/90 confirmed by repeated readings over several hours. Is there documentation of an abnormal BP reading at or after 26 weeks gestation?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if the woman did not attend at or after 26 weeks gestation or if BP is not recorded in question 5.3 and 5.7

If BP is documented as abnormal, indicate the BP reading and date of reading

Follow up

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there a documented follow up BP reading completed on a different day to the abnormal result?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks

Urine test

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of a urine test to check for protein?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks

Referral

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of referral to a general practitioner or obstetrician?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks

Examination

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of an examination by general practitioner or obstetrician?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks

Medication

If BP is documented as abnormal, is there documentation of prescribed antihypertensive medication? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-NA if there is no documentation of abnormal BP at or after 26 weeks



8.4 Oral glucose challenge test

Between 24 and 28 weeks gestation, women who do not have pre existing diabetes should be screened for diabetes (question 6.15). If screening is positive, then a 75g 2 hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) is used for diagnosis.

This question is about abnormal results of diabetes screening anytime during the index pregnancy. For the purpose of this audit, an abnormal result is described as:

BGL ≥ 7.8mmol/l 1 hour after a 50g glucose load

BGL ≥ 8mmol/l after a 75g glucose load

Is there documentation of an abnormal result of diabetes screening using a standard glucose challenge/tolerance test?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of a glucose challenge/tolerance test in question 6.15

Glucose tolerance test (OGTT)

This question is about follow up of diabetes screening, to diagnose or exclude gestational diabetes. If an abnormal OGCT or OGTT is documented, then is an OGTT documented? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-NA if there is no documentation of an abnormal glucose challenge test in question 8.4

8.5 Rh Factor (Maternal Rhesus antibodies)

Blood group and antibodies should be checked at the first antenatal visit and at 28 weeks (NACCHO/RACGP, 2012; CANHC, 2014; QH/RFDS, 2013). For the purpose of this audit, this question is about whether the mother's Rh factor is negative.

Is there documentation of the woman being Rh negative?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Anti-D injection

If documentation of the woman being Rh negative, was an anti-D injection given at 26-28 weeks? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-NA if there is no documentation of the mother being Rh negative in question 8.5.

If documentation of the woman being Rh negative, was an anti-D injection given at 34-36 weeks? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-NA if there is no documentation of the mother being Rh negative in question 8.5.

8.6 Rh Factor -baby

If the mother is Rh negative, the baby will be tested after birth for Rh factor. This information may be on the birth summary. If the baby is Rh positive, and the mother is Rh negative, it is important the mother is offered an anti-D injection.

Is there documentation that the baby is Rh positive?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

Anti -D injection

If documentation of the baby being Rh positive, was an anti-D injection given to the mother in the post natal period?

Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No 9-NA** if there is no documentation of the baby being Rh positive in question 8.6





8.7 Anaemia

A small drop in Hb is usual in pregnancy, but Hb should be 110g/L or more (CANHC, 2014). Anaemia in pregnancy is defined as haemoglobin (Hb) below 110g/L. It is diagnosed by a (full blood count) FBC or (full blood examination) FBE, which should be checked at least twice during pregnancy (QH, 2013). Further investigations, treatment and monitoring of Hb should commence if Hb is less than 110g/L. For the purpose of this audit, only consider Hb results that are less than 100g/L so that the number of anaemic women is not over estimated.

Do any of the blood tests taken during the pregnancy show Hb <100g/L?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If Hb is <100g/L, indicate the Hb reading and date of reading (prior to birth of infant)

Iron

It is acknowledged that a prescription is not necessary for iron supplements. For the purpose of this audit, 'prescription' includes a documented recommendation or suggestion by a health practitioner that the woman take an iron supplement because of anaemia.

If the documented Hb was less than 100g/L, is there documentation of iron being prescribed?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-NA if there is no documentation of Hb<100g/L

Follow up

If the documented Hb was less than 100g/L, is there documentation of a follow up FBE or Hb? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-N/A If Hb is <100g/L, indicate the Hb reading and date of reading (prior to birth of infant)

8.8 Urine Infection (nitrites)

Leucocytes or nitrites in the urine suggest that there is a urinary tract infection (CANHC, 2014). Abnormal results should be followed up with a mid stream urine (MSU) test for diagnosis, and possibly antibiotic medication. Urinalysis should be completed at every antenatal visit (QH, 2013). This question is about urine dipstick test results at any time during index pregnancy. For the purpose of this audit, information is refined to only nitrites on urine tests, either laboratory or dipstick.

Do any of the urine tests documented during the index pregnancy show positive for nitrites?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If urinalysis is not recorded in questions 5.4, 5.8 and 5.12.

MSU

If the documented urine test was positive for nitrites, is there documentation of urine sent for MSU?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If there is no documentation of nitrites in the urine in question 8.8

Antibiotics

All urinary tract infections in pregnancy should be treated. If the documented urine test was positive for nitrites, is there documentation of a course of oral antibiotic prescribed?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If there is no documentation of nitrites in the urine in question 8.8

Follow up MSU

If the documented urine test was positive for nitrites, is there documentation of a normal follow up MSU? Indicate **1-Yes** or **0-No**

9-N/A If there is no documentation of nitrites in the urine in question 8.8



8.9 Rubella

Pathology laboratories may use different assay techniques in determining low titre; for example, in one laboratory a titre of 30 may be the level at which a MMR (measles, mumps rubella) vaccination is recommended, while for another laboratory the titre may be 10. The different levels can reflect the same level of immunity. The laboratory should provide advice about the assay used and titre at which MMR should be recommended. Health services need to follow the recommendations of the laboratory that they use to determine if the woman has a low or negative MMR titre.

Do any of the blood tests documented during the index pregnancy show a low or negative Rubella or MMR titre?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

If the documented Rubella or MMR titre is low or negative, is there documentation of a Rubella immunisation given to the woman in the post natal period?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If there is no documentation of Rubella or MMR titres in question 8.9

8.10 Foetal movements

Foetal movement should be discussed at every antenatal visit after 26 weeks gestation. Is there any documentation of reduced or decreased foetal movements after 26 weeks gestation?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A If the woman did not attend after 26 weeks gestation or if foetal movement is not documented in question 5.13.

Kick chart

If foetal movement was documented as abnormal in question 5.13, was a kick chart initiated?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if no reduced/decreased foetal movements recorded in question 5.13

Cardiotocograph (CTG)

If foetal movement was documented as abnormal in question 5.13, was a CTG attended?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if no reduced/decreased foetal movements recorded in question 5.13

Referral

If foetal movement was documented as abnormal in question 5.13, is there documentation of referral to a specialist service?

Indicate 1-Yes or 0-No

9-N/A if no reduced/decreased foetal movements recorded in question 5.13



References

ADIPS (Australasian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society) Nankervis A, McIntyre HD, Moses R, Ross GP, Callaway L, Porter C, Jeffries W, Boorman C, De Vries B, McElduff A, 2013, *ADIPS Consensus Guidelines for the Testing and Diagnosis of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus in Australia*[ONLINE] Available at: http://adips.org/downloads/ADIPSConsensusGuidelinesGDM-03.05.13VersionACCEPTEDFINAL_000.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

AHMAC (Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council) 2012, *Clinical Practice Guidelines: Antenatal Care* – *Module 1*. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Canberra [ONLINE] available at: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/015FBFDD266795DBCA257BF0001A0547/\$ File/ANC_Guidelines_Mod1_v32.pdf [accessed 8 July 2014]

beyondblue (2011) Clinical practice guidelines for depression and related disorders – anxiety, bipolar disorder and puerperal psychosis – in the perinatal period. *A guideline for primary care health professionals.* Melbourne: *beyondblue*: the national depression initiative. [ONLINE] available at: https://www.bspg.com.au/dam/bsg/product?client=BEYONDBLUE&prodid=BL/0891&type=file [Accessed 8 July 2014]

CANHC (Congress Alukura and Nganampa Health Council), 2014, *Minymaku Kutju Tjukurpa (Women's Business Manual)*. Standard Treatment Manual for Women's Business in Central Australia and the Top End of the Northern Territory. 5th Edition [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.remotephcmanuals.com.au/html/publications/wbm [Accessed 21 July 2014]

CARPA 2014 (Central Australian Rural Practitioners Association) Standard Treatment Manual, 6th ed. Alice Springs CRH [ONLINE] available at: http://www.remotephcmanuals.com.au/html/publications/stm [accessed 10 July 2014]

Couzos and Murray, *Aboriginal Primary Health Care. An evidence-based Approach. 3rd edition.* (for the Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council) Victoria 2008

DoHA, (Department of Health and Aging), Report of the Maternity Services Review, 2009 [online] available at:

http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/624EF4BED503DB5BCA257BF0001DC83C/ \$File/Improving%20Maternity%20Services%20in%20Australia%20-%20The%20Report%20of%20the%20Maternity%20Services%20Review.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

DoHA, (Department of Health and Aging), 2013, *National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2013-2023*, [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.naccho.org.au/download/aboriginal_health_plan-natsihp_consultation/NATSIHP%20Aboriginal%20Health%20Plan%202013.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

KEMH (King Edward Memorial Hospital), Antenatal shared care guidelines for general practitioners, 4th edition, 2010 [online] available at: http://kemh.health.wa.gov.au/development/manuals/guidelines/2577.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

NACCHO /RACGP, National guide to a preventive health assessment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 2nd edn. South Melbourne: The RACGP, 2012 [ONLINE] available at: http://www.racgp.org.au/download/documents/AHU/2ndednationalguide.pdf [accessed 8 July 2014]



NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council) 2009, Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol [online] available at: http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/publications/attachments/ds10alcohol.pdf?q=publications/synopses/_files/ds10-alcohol.pdf [accessed 21 July 2014]

NSW Health (New South Wales Department of Health), 2009, NSW Health/Families NSW Supporting Families Early Package – SAFE START Strategic Policy [online] available at: http://www.sfe.nswiop.nsw.edu.au/file.php/1/SafeStartPolicy.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

QH (Queensland Health), RFDS (Royal Flying Doctor Service, Queensland Section) 2013. *Primary Clinical Care Manual*. [online] available at: http://www.health.qld.gov.au/pccm/pdfs/pccm-2013.pdf [accessed 8 July 2014]

RANZCOG (Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists), 2011, *Standards of Maternity care in Australia and New Zealand* [Accessed 8 July 2014] http://www.ranzcog.edu.au/the-ranzcog/policies-and-guidelines/policies-procedures-document-library.htm

Other literature

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2014. *National Key Performance Indicators for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander primary health care: first national results June 2012 to June 2013.* National key performance indicators for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander primary health care series. IHW 123. Canberra: AIHW [ONLINE] Available at:

http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129547048 [Accessed 16 June 2014]

Mercy Hospital for Women, Southern Health and Royal Women's Hospital, *3 Centres Consensus Guidelines on Antenatal Care*, 2006, Mercy Hospital for Women, Southern Health and Royal Women's Hospital [ONLINE] Available at: http://3centres.com.au/guidelines [accessed 8 July 2014]

RACGP (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners) (2013). *Interpretive guide of the RACGP standards for general practices (4th edition) for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health services,* Melbourne http://www.racgp.org.au/download/Documents/Standards/interpretiveguide.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]

AMA, 2012-13 Report Card The Healthy Early Years – Getting the Right Start in Life [ONLINE] Available at: https://ama.com.au/2012-13-ama-indigenous-health-report-card-healthy-early-years-getting-right-start-life [Accessed 8 July 2014]

World Health Organisation Family and community practices that promote child survival, growth and development. A review of the evidence. Executive Summary Geneva 2004 [ONLINE] Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2004/9241591501.pdf?ua=1 [Accessed 8 July 2014]

Australian College of Midwives, National Midwifery Guidelines for Consultation and Referral. 2013

Office of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health, *Improving Health in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mothers, babies and young children: a literature review*, 2005. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/A5665A1E705D14BACA257BF0001B094A/\$ File/Lit%20Review%20Ana%20Herceg%202006.pdf [Accessed 8 July, 2014]

Office of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health (OATSIH). *National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child and Maternal Health Exemplar Site Initiative: Site Reports 2005.* [ONLINE] Available at:



http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/60C329FDD18E2D53CA257BF000209D50/\$ File/H4L%20-%20Exemplar%20Report.pdf [Accessed 8 July 2014]Emotional Wellbeing Screening tools

Kessler 5 (K5)

K5 is a measure of psychological distress that consists of a subset of five questions from the Kessler psychological distress scale 10 (K10, see below).

The 2008 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander social survey (ABS 2009) included five questions from the K10, providing a measure of the social and emotional wellbeing of the Indigenous population. The K5 questions were:

- How often did you feel nervous?

- How often did you feel without hope?
- How often did you feel restless or jumpy?
- How often did you feel everything was an effort?
- How often did you feel so sad that nothing could cheer you up?

Responses to the five questions are scored and combined, resulting in a minimum possible score of 5 and a maximum possible score of 25. Low scores indicate low levels of psychological distress and high scores indicate high levels of psychological distress (Kessler 1996).

Kessler 6 (K6)

K6 is a six-question format that is also referred to as the Kessler high distress measure (AIHW 2009b). The K6 has been used in a number of international studies, including the United States National Health Interview Survey (NCHS 2007).

Kessler 10 (K10)

K10 is a nonspecific distress scale developed in 1992 by professors Ron Kessler and Dan Mroczek (Kessler 1996). K10 consists of 10 questions designed to measure levels of negative emotional states experienced in the four weeks prior to interview. It is a simple self-report measure of psychological distress that can be used to identify clients in need of further assessment for anxiety and depression (Kessler 1996).

This measure was designed for use in the general population to detect high-prevalence mental health disorders. K10 comprises 10 questions that are answered using a five-point scale (where 5 = all of the time and 1 = none of the time).

For all questions, the client circles the answer that best describes their feelings in the past four weeks. Scores are then summed: the maximum score of 50 indicates severe distress and the minimum score of 10 indicates no distress (Deady 2005).

The Victorian Population Health Survey (DHS 2001) adopted a set of cut-off scores for K10 as a guide for screening psychological distress and the likelihood of mental disorder. These are:

10–19 Likely to be well

20-24 Likely to have a mild disorder

25-29 Likely to have a moderate disorder

30-50 Likely to have a severe disorder

Patient health questionnaires 2 and 9 (PHQ2 and PHQ9)

The patient health questionnaire (PHQ) has two different formats. The PHQ9 is the complete questionnaire and screens for all nine symptoms of depression. If a client has any of the symptoms, the



PHQ9 has an additional question (question 10) that assesses the impact of those symptoms on the client's ability to function on a day-to-day basis (APA 2009).

The PHQ2 comprises the first two items of the PHQ9 and inquires about the degree to which the client has experienced a depressed mood over the past two weeks, to screen for depression. Clients who screen positive should be further evaluated with the PHQ9 to determine whether they meet the criteria for a depressive disorder (APA 2009).

Edinburgh postnatal depression scale (EPDS)

The EPDS is a 10-item self-report measure that screens women for symptoms of emotional distress during pregnancy and the postnatal period. The EPDS includes one question about suicidal thoughts and should be scored before the client leaves the office to ensure this item has been checked. Further enquiry about the nature of any thoughts of self-harm is required to determine the level of risk (Cox et al. 1987).

The EPDS reflects the client's experience of the last seven days; it may therefore need to be repeated on later occasions if this is deemed clinically necessary (Cox et al. 1987).



Emotional wellbeing screening tools - references

AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) (2009). *Measuring the social and emotional wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples*. AIHW, Canberra

APA (American Psychological Association) (2011). *Patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9 and PHQ-2)* [ONLIINE] Available at: http://www.apa.org/pi/about/publications/caregivers/practicesettings/assessment/tools/patient-health.aspx [Accessed 8 July 2014]

Cox, J. L., Holden, J. M., & Sagovsky, R. (1987). Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 150, 782-786

Deady M (2005). A review of screening, assessment and outcome measures for drug and alcohol settings, Network of Alcohol & Other Drugs Agencies, Sydney

Kessler RC (1996). Kessler's 10 psychological distress scale. Harvard Medical School, Boston

NCHS (National Center of Health Statistics) (2007). National health interview survey. NCHS, Hyattsville

Department of Human Services, 2002, *Victorian Population Health Survey 2001*, [ONLINE] Available at: http://docs.health.vic.gov.au/docs/doc/C5523901397D3903CA2578680005E36F/\$FILE/vphs2001.pdf [accessed 8 July 2014]